# BRIEF FOR APPELLANT DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS No. 23-CF-389 DAIQUON D. GREER, Appellant, v. UNITED STATES, Appellee.

Clerk of the Court Received 11/27/2023 11:35 PM Filed 11/27/2023 11:35 PM

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION, CF2-3690-22

> Sweta Patel Counsel for Appellant By Court Appointment Bruckheim & Patel, LLC 1100 H Street, NW Suite 830 Washington, DC 20005 (202) 930-3464 patel@brucklaw.com Bar No. 1013010

# **RECUSAL NOTICE**

[Pursuant to DCCA Rule 28 a (2)]

- A. LIST OF ALL PARTIES, INTERVENORS, AMICI CURAIE, AND THEIR COUNSEL IN THE TRIAL COURT OR AGENCY PROCEEDING AND IN THE APPELLATE PROCEEDING:

# **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE**

1. Whether the trial court erred in denying Appellant Daiquon Greer's motion to suppress tangible evidence when the stop and seizure was not based on reasonable articulable suspicion because it was not established that Mr. Greer was involved in criminal activity prior to the seizure or that he was armed and dangerous?

# **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Appellant Daiquon Greer was charged with one count of carrying a pistol without a license (outside home or place of business), one count of possession of unregistered firearm, one count of possession of a large capacity ammunition feeding device, and one count of unlawful possession of ammunition on June 30, 2022. A motions hearing occurred and the trial court denied the motion at the hearing. Mr. Greer stipulated to the trial, with maintaining his right to appeal the motion, and was found guilty of all four counts.

On April 13, 2023, Mr. Greer was sentenced. For carrying a pistol without a license, Mr. Greer received a sentence of fifteen (15) months incarceration execution of sentence suspended as to all, supervised probation for twelve (12) months, and a \$100.00 fine to the Victims of Violent Crime Compensation Act of 1996. For the count of possession of a large capacity ammunition feeding device, Mr. Greer received a sentence of nine (9) months incarceration execution of sentence suspended as to all, supervised probation for twelve (12) months, and a \$100.00 fine to the Victims of Violent Crime Compensation Act of 1996. For the remaining counts, Mr. Greer was sentenced to ninety (90) days incarceration execution of sentence suspended as to all, twelve (12) months of supervised probation, and a \$50.00 fine to the Victims of Violent Crime Compensation Act of 1996. Mr. Greer's sentence and probation were ordered to run concurrent for all counts. *See* Judgment and Commitment Order. Mr. Greer filed a timely notice of appeal on May 5, 2023.

# **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

# I. Motion Hearing

On November 16, 2022, defense counsel filed a motion to suppress tangible evidence. On December 2, 2022, the government opposed appellant's motion to suppress, and the defense

replied on December 6, 2022. The trial court granted a hearing on the issue. The hearing took place on February 6, 2023. At the hearing, Officer Donald Green testified for the government.

Officer Green testified on June 29, 2022, he was working with the Fourth District of MPD. He previously worked for the Gun Recovery Unit where he received training in identifying armed individuals. 2/6/22 Tr. 21:22-23. Officer Green was called to the scene of the 3700 block of Georgia Avenue, NW after a drive by shooting occurred earlier in the day. 2/6/22 Tr. at 5:2-22. Officer Green testified it was daylight at approximately 4:30pm with other pedestrians walking in the area as it is a high traffic area of the city. 2/6/22 Tr. 6:4-12, 45:1-6. Officer Green testified it was a high crime area but did not testify to any specific statistics indicating why it was a higher crime area than others in the District. 2/6/22 Tr. 5:15-19, 45:7-22.

Approximately 42 minutes after Officer Green was called to the scene, he saw an individual, later identified as Mr. Greer, walking normally down the street in the area near the metro station at Georgie Avenue. 2/6/22 Tr. 12:1-13, 46:12-19, 47:18-22, 50:4-7. Another officer alerted Officer Green to Mr. Greer indicating the officer believed he had a firearm on his person. 2/6/22 Tr. 16, 17:1-13, 50:11-22. Officer Green proceeded to follow Mr. Greer down the street and called out to Mr. Greer to stop. 2/6/22 Tr. 18:1-4, 51:2-16. Mr. Greer was on his cellphone at the time and partially turned around to speak with Officer Green. 2/6/22 Tr. 18:16-23. Officer Green testified he characterized this movement as "blading," a movement indicative of an armed individual. 2/6/22 Tr. 19:12-17. Officer Green asked if Mr. Greer had anything on him and asked to see his waistband. 2/6/22 Tr. 27:5-19, 63. At this time, Officer Green stood in front of Mr. Greer while other officers were nearby. 2/6/22 Tr. 64. When Mr. Greer did not consent to showing his waistband and said "he was good," Officer Green grabbed Mr. Greer, took him to the ground, then proceeded to put handcuffs on him. 2/6/22 Tr. 28:12-20, 65. Additional officers joined Officer

Green in bringing Mr. Greer to the ground. 2/6/22 Tr. 30:12-15. At one point, Officer Green tells Mr. Greer they will "shoot him" while they were handcuffing him on the ground. 2/6/22 Tr. 66:9-13, 68:15-24. After Mr. Greer is on the ground and in handcuffs, the officers touch his groin area and say he has a gun. 2/6/22 Tr. 31:7-10. The entire encounter was observed on the officer's body worn camera and was submitted into evidence as government's exhibit 1 and 2. As the video depicts, the encounter between Mr. Greer and the officers, before the firearm is found, lasts approximately one minute and thirty seconds.

Though the bodyworn camera nor the pictures submitted into evidence show a clear depiction of a gun in Mr. Greer's pants, Officer Green testified he could clearly see an L shaped outline of a gun in Mr. Greer's pants prior to taking him to the ground and handcuffing him. 2/6/22 Tr. 23:7-16, 70:9-25. Mr. Greer was wearing multiple layers of clothing which covered his waistband on the day of his arrest, but Officer Green testified he could clearly see the L shaped bulge through those layers of clothing. 2/6/22 Tr. 52:7-13. Officer Green also testified that Mr. Greer took a step to the left, which Officer Green believed was an indication that he was going to flee. 2/6/22 Tr. 29:17-25. Like the bulge, the step to the left is not clearly depicted on the bodyworn camera prior to Officer Green taking Mr. Greer to the ground.

The trial court denied the motion to suppress. 2/6/22 Tr. 111:1-2. Specifically, it found that the officers had reasonable articulable suspicion because (1) Mr. Greer being in a high crime area (2/6/22 Tr. 106:4-14); (2) another officer alerting Officer Green to Mr. Greer's waistband indicating a firearm (2/6/22 Tr. 106:15-24); (3) an L shaped bulge (2/6/22 Tr. 108:10-16); (4) Mr. Greer "blading" his body (2/6/22 Tr. 109:1-13); and (5) Mr. Greer taking a step to the left before being taken to the ground by the officers and handcuffed (2/6/22 Tr. 109:18-22). Notably, the trial court indicated that if there was only testimony of a bulge present the officers would not have had

reasonable articulable suspicion. 2/6/22 Tr. 111:12-23. But the trial court distinguished the facts of *Singleton* from this case noting that the facts it cited gave the officers enough suspicion to stop and search Mr. Greer. 2/6/22 Tr. 111:24-25, 112:1.

After the motions hearing, Mr. Greer stipulated to the trial and was found guilty of carrying a pistol without a license outside home or place of business, possession of unregistered firearm, unlawful possession of ammunition, and possession of a large capacity ammunition feeding device.

## **ARGUMENT**

# I. ALL TANGIBLE EVIDENCE MUST BE SUPPRESSED BECAUSE THE SEARCH AND SEIZURE OF MR. GREER VIOLATED HIS FOURTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS.

The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution guarantees the right of people to be secure in their persons and protects them against unreasonable searches and seizures by the police. U.S. Const. Amend IV. The District of Columbia is subject to the prohibition against unreasonable searches and seizures contained in the Fourth Amendment, but the District of Columbia has the power to impose higher standards on searches and seizures than required by the Federal Constitution if it chooses to do so. *Cooper v. State of Cal.*, 386 U.S. 58 (1967). Evidence obtained through such an illegal search is inadmissible under both federal law, *Mapp v. Ohio*, 367 U.S. 643 (1961), and District of Columbia law, *Bliss v. United States*, 445 A.2d 625 (D.C. 1982), opinion amended, 452 A.2d 172 (D.C. 1982). The exclusionary sanction applicable to evidence derivatively obtained from a violation of the Fourth Amendment applies to any "fruits" of a constitutional violation, including tangible, physical material actually seized in an illegal search. *United States v. Crews*, 445 U.S. 463 (1980).

Warrantless seizures are presumptively unreasonable. *See Katz v. United States*, 389 U.S. 347, 357 (1967). There are very few exceptions to this time-honored rule. *See id.* Courts cannot

authorize an "on-the-street warrantless search of a person's effects based upon a police officer's suspicion or hunch." *United States v. Boswell,* 347 A.2d 270, 276 (D.C. 1975). Rather, when a person is arrested without a warrant, the government bears the burden of proving the propriety of such action if any evidence resulting from the seizure is to be used at trial. *See Malcolm v. United States,* 332 A.2d 917, 918 (D.C. 1975).

There are three types of permissible encounters between the police and citizens which do not violate the Fourth Amendment: (1) consensual encounters, which do not require any level of suspicion prior to initiation; (2) investigative detentions, which if nonconsensual, must be supported by a reasonable, articulable suspicion of criminal activity prior to initiation; and (3) arrest, which must be supported by probable cause prior to initiation. *Gordon v. United States*, 120 A.3d 73, 78 (D.C. 2015). Both investigative detentions and arrests are seizures under the Fourth Amendment; mere consensual encounters are not. *Id*.

Investigatory stops are only permitted if a reasonably prudent officer, with the facts available at the time of the stop, would view the information as logically inferring that the stop was justified. See Coolidge v. New Hampshire, 403 U.S. 443, 455 (1971). This is an objective test, and cannot be judged by the subjective "intuition" or "good faith efforts" of the officer involved in the stop. See e.g., Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968). The Supreme Court has repeatedly concluded that the courts "must look at the 'totality of the circumstances' of each case to see whether the detaining officer has a 'particularized and objective basis' for suspecting legal wrongdoing." Arvizu, 534 U.S. at 273, 122 S.Ct. 744 (quoting United States v. Cortez, 449 U.S. 411, 417–18, 101 S.Ct. 690, 66 L.Ed.2d 621 (1981)). An officer's "inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or hunch of criminal activity" is insufficient to justify a stop. Illinois v. Wardlow, 528

U.S. 119, 123–24, 120 S.Ct. 673, 145 L.Ed.2d 570 (2000) (quotation marks omitted); *accord Arvizu*, 534 U.S. at 274, 122 S.Ct. 744; *Terry*, 392 U.S. at 27, 88 S.Ct. 1868.

Terry recognized that the officer making a reasonable investigatory stop should not be denied the opportunity to protect himself from attack by a hostile suspect. Adams v. Williams, 407 U.S. 143, 146 (1972). When an officer is justified in believing that the individual, whose suspicious behavior he is investigating at a close range, is armed and presently dangerous, he may conduct a limited protective search for concealed weapons. Id. Leaving the area where police are cannot be considered flight, but even if it is, flight alone is not sufficient to justify a Terry stop. See Williamson v. United States, 607 A.2d 471, 479 (D.C. 1992). Furthermore, provoked flight is not substantially indicative of criminal activity when there are no circumstances that the flight can be viewed in an incriminating light. Miles v. United States, 181 A.3d 633, 644 (D.C. 2018) (citing a myriad of reasons an innocent person might run away from the police by a natural fear or dislike of authority, a distaste for police officers based upon past experience, an exaggerated fear of police brutality or harassment, a fear of being apprehended as the guilty party, or other legitimate personal reasons.).

In assessing the constitutionality of an investigatory stop, a court's determination of the existence of reasonable suspicion "cannot be a mere ratification of the conclusions of others." *Illinois v. Gates*, 462 U.S. 213, 239, 76 L. Ed. 2d 527, 103 S. Ct. 2317 (1983). A judge has the responsibility to make an independent assessment of the sufficiency of the basis for the stop, and to do so the judge must be "apprised of sufficient facts to enable him [or her] to evaluate the nature and reliability of that information." *In re T.L.L.*, 729 A.2d 334, 341 (D.C. 1999). "A court may not simply rely on a police officer's conclusory assertions in deciding whether a search or seizure was justified under the Fourth Amendment, but rather must evaluate the facts underlying those

assertions." *Sanders v. United States*, 751 A.2d 952, 955 (D.C. 2000). An individual's presence in a "high crime area," standing alone, is not enough to support a reasonable, particularized suspicion of criminal activity, though a location's characteristics are relevant in determining whether the circumstances are sufficiently suspicious to warrant further investigation. *Illinois v. Wardlow*, 528 U.S. 119, 123–24, 120 S.Ct. 673, 145 L.Ed.2d 570 (2000) (citing *Adams v. Williams*, 407 U.S. 143, 144, 147-148, 32 L. Ed. 2d 612, 92 S. Ct. 1921)). Thus, without more, conclusory testimony by police officers that a particular location is known as a high-crime area is not a sufficient basis for a judge to determine that a stop was justified.

In reviewing the trial court's denial of a motion to suppress, the Court of Appeal's scope is limited. Deference must be given to the trial court's factual findings. *Lawrence v. United States*, 566 A.2d 57, 60 (D.C. 1989). The facts and all reasonable inferences therefrom must be viewed in favor or sustaining the trial court's ruling. *Peay v. United States*, 597 A.2d 1318, 1320 (D.C. 1991) (en banc). However, the review of the trial court's legal conclusions is de novo. *Lewis v. United States*, 632 A.2d 383, 385 (D.C. 1993).

# A. There was no suspicion of criminal activity by Mr. Greer prior to his unlawful seizure.

Mr. Greer's Fourth Amendment rights were violated because the officers did not have the reasonable grounds to stop and seize Mr. Greer when no suspicion of criminal activity was present prior to the stop. In *T.W. v. United States*, this Court identified factors and circumstances that might signify a seizure which include: (1) the presence of several officers, (2) the display of a weapon by an officer, (3) some physical touching of the person, (4) the use of language or tone of voice indicating that compliance must be compelled, (5) if individual is "by himself" so police presence is apparently exclusively on him, (6) the encounter is secluded or out of public sight, (7) the officers are uniformed or have their weapons drawn, (8) the officers have blocked the potential

individual's potential paths of exit or means of egress, (9) the officers' questions are accusatory; (6) and the officers repeat accusatory questions in the face of an initial denial, signaling that they have "refused to accept" the answer given. *See T.W. v. United States*, 292 A.3d 790, 795 (D.C. 2023); *see also Golden v. United States*, 248 A.3d 925, 939 (D.C. 2021).

In this case, most of the above-mentioned factors are present indicating Mr. Greer was seized on the sidewalk prior to the officers finding the firearm on his person. The only reason why Officer Green approached Mr. Greer on Georgia Avenue was because another officer indicated to him that he believed Mr. Greer may have a gun in his waistband, essentially a hunch. Officer Green admitted he did not see a gun or a bulge in the waistband initially, but nevertheless followed Mr. Greer. At this point, Officer Green has no other suspicion other than a hunch of another officer. Mr. Greer was walking normally down the street. He had one hand holding his phone up to his ear and the other arm hanging by his side, swinging naturally. He was walking at a casual pace down the street next to caution tape and a large, uniformed, armed police presence, but he did not appear to be nervous or even acknowledge their presence until Officer Green approached him.

While Officer Green followed Mr. Greer down the street, he called out to him to stop and asked if he had a gun on him. At this point, Mr. Greer was unlawfully seized as he was not free to leave. Officer Green repeated these accusatory questions even after Mr. Greer stated "no," "he was good," and he was "positive" he did not have a gun. Officer Green was not satisfied by these answers and asked these questions while he quickly approached Mr. Greer and then stood in front of him, blocking his passage down the street. Officer Green took it a step further when he physically grabbed Mr. Greer by the arm. Then, Officer Green and other officers took Mr. Greer to the ground, pulled his arms behind his back, told Mr. Greer they would shoot him, and then put handcuffs on him. After handcuffs were on Mr. Greer with officers on top of him on the ground,

Officer Green reached around to the front of Mr. Greer's waist and groin region and felt what he perceived to be a gun.

During this unlawful seizure, Officer Green observed movements he characterized as "blading" and "almost fleeing." However, in actuality from what is depicted on the bodyworn camera, Officer Green is following behind Mr. Greer and approaches him from his right side when he initially calls out to him. Mr. Greer turns towards the officer but then continues to walk down the street as he is allowed to do. Instead of allowing him to walk down the street, Officer Green gets closer to Mr. Greer to get him to stop as Officer Green catches up with him. Mr. Greer is standing perpendicular to the street but turned towards Officer Green. Then, Officer Green stands in front of him blocking his path down the street. Mr. Greer uses his hand not holding his phone to touch his waist and pockets to indicate to Officer Green that he does not have a firearm. As seen on the bodyworn camera, as soon as Mr. Greer takes a slight step to the left Officer Green and immediately grabs his arm and takes him to the ground. Additionally, Officer Green was not the only officer present at the time of this accusatory questioning and seizure.

Other than being alerted by another officer that he thought Mr. Greer had a gun in his waistband, Officer Green did not make any other observations of suspicion prior to approaching Mr. Greer and unlawfully seizing him. The trial court heavily relied on Officer Green's conclusory observations rather than independently analyzing the totality of the circumstances to determine that because Mr. Greer was walking in a high crime area, had an L shaped bulge, 'bladed' his body, and took a step to the left to "flee" was enough for reasonable suspicion to detain Mr. Greer. See Singleton v. United States, 998 A.2d 295, 299 (D.C. 2010) (Other factors that may warrant a conclusion that a stop was justified include "the time of day, flight, the high crime nature of the location, furtive movements, an informant's tip, a person's reaction to questioning, a report of

criminal activity or gunshots, and viewing of an object or bulge indicating a weapon."). However, it is clear the bodyworn camera evidence contradicts the officer's conclusory opinions and the trial court's reasoning. Most notably, these observations took place *after* Mr. Greer was unlawfully seized and not before, which the trial court failed to determine.

Since there was no indication that Mr. Greer was involved in criminal conduct or suspicious activity was occurring, the officers had no justification or reasonable suspicion to immediately stop and seize him. *See Maye v. United States*, 260 A.3d 638, 649 (D.C. 2021) (finding being in a high crime area does not transform innocuous behavior like adjusting one's waistband and placing hand in one's pocket into suspicious behavior justifying a seizure); *Posey v. United States*, 201 A.3d 1198, 1203 (D.C. 2019) (finding a lookout for a suspect of an armed robbery in a high-crime area with the flight of the defendant who did not display any other suspicious activity was not enough reasonable articulable suspicion for a protective pat down); *see also Dozier v. United States*, 220 A.3d 933 (D.C. 2019) (holding a defendant walking in an alley known for drug activity did not rise to the level of reasonable suspicion necessary for officers to approach and conduct a protective pat down effectively unlawfully seizing him.).

# B. There was no suspicion Mr. Greer was armed and dangerous prior to the officers seizing him in violation of his Fourth Amendment rights.

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