BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

No. 23-CF-389



DAIQUON GREER,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

MATTHEW M. GRAVES United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB NICHOLAS P. COLEMAN CALLIE HYDE ERICA RUDOLF

- * MICHAEL C. LEE CT Bar # 436272 Assistant United States Attorneys
- * Counsel for Oral Argument 601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232 Washington, D.C. 20530 Michael.Lee4@usdoj.gov (202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2022-CF2-3690

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

ARGUMENT

The Trial Court Properly Denied Greer's Motion to Suppress Tangible Evidence.

Greer claims that his Fourth Amendment rights were violated because the officers did not have reasonable suspicion that Greer was involved in criminal activity or armed and dangerous prior to seizing him (Appellant's Brief (Br.) 9, 11). Greer's claim is meritless. The officers properly seized Greer when they grabbed him and had reasonable suspicion to do so based upon the totality of the circumstances. Further, Officer Green reasonably believed that Greer was armed and dangerous prior to seizing him and, in light of Greer's apparent attempt to reach toward his waistband, was justified in handcuffing Greer before frisking him.

A. Standard of Review and Applicable Legal Principles

This Court's "review of a trial court's denial of a motion to suppress is limited." *Jones v. United States*, 972 A.2d 821, 824 (D.C. 2009). "In reviewing a trial court's denial of a motion to suppress evidence on Fourth Amendment grounds," this Court "defer[s] to the trial court's findings of evidentiary fact unless clearly erroneous[.]" *Sharp v. United States*, 132

A.3d 161, 166 (D.C. 2016). Evidence presented at a suppression hearing is viewed in the light most favorable to the prevailing party, and all reasonable inferences are drawn in favor of upholding the trial court's ruling. *United States v. Lewis*, 147 A.3d 236, 239 (D.C. 2016). However, the trial court's conclusions on Fourth Amendment issues, including whether a seizure has occurred, are legal questions "subject to de novo review." *Bennett v. United States*, 26 A.3d 745, 751 (D.C. 2011).

"The Fourth Amendment of the Constitution protects individuals from unreasonable seizures by governmental authorities." *Jackson v. United States*, 805 A.2d 979, 983 (D.C. 2002) (citing *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 9 (1968)). "A Fourth Amendment 'seizure' occurs '[o]nly when [an] officer, by means of physical force or show of authority, has in some way restrained the liberty of a citizen[.]" *Kelly v. United States*, 580 A.2d 1282, 1285 (D.C. 1990) (citing *Terry*, 392 U.S. at 19 n. 16). "If police behavior amounts to a show of authority without a physical touching, a seizure will be found if the person to whom the show is directed submits; 'there is no seizure without actual submission." *Golden v. United States*, 248 A.3d 925, 935 (D.C. 2021) (citing *Brendlin v. California*, 551 U.S. 249, 254 (2007)).

A seizure occurs when, under the totality of the circumstances, "a reasonable person would have believed that he was not free to leave[.]" Kelly, 580 A.2d at 1285 (quoting United States v. Mendenhall, 446 U.S. 544, 554 (1980)). Among the factors that may indicate whether a consensual encounter has risen to the level of a seizure are "the threatening presence of several officers, the display of a weapon by an officer, some physical touching of the person of the citizen, or the use of language or tone of voice indicating that compliance with the officer's request might be compelled." T.W. v. United States, 292 A.3d 790, 795 (D.C. 2023) (quoting Mendenhall, 446 U.S. at 554). Other factors include whether:

(1) [T]he individual "is by himself" in the area so that the police presence was apparently focused exclusively on him; (2) the encounter is in a place "that is secluded or out of public sight; (3) the officers are uniformed or have their weapons visible; (4) the officers have blocked the individual's potential exit paths or "means of egress; (5) the officers' questions are "accusatory"; and (6) the officers repeat accusatory questions in the face of an initial denial, signaling that they have "refused to accept" the answer given. Conversely, an encounter's "brevity" and the officers' "cordiality" during it are factors that often weigh against finding a seizure. *Id.* at 795-96 (internal citations omitted).

"The Supreme Court has repeatedly held that police do not manifest a show of authority 'merely [by] approaching an individual on the street or in another public place . . . [and] putting some questions to him if the person is willing to listen,' provided the officers do not imply that answers are obligatory." *Golden*, 248 A.3d at 935 (quoting *United States v. Castle*, 825 F.3d 625, 633 (D.C. Cir. 2016)). However, "repeated or insistent (and implicitly accusatory) questions or requests designed to ferret out whether someone stopped on the street is in possession of weapons or contraband, particularly in conjunction with other intimidating or coercive circumstances" are indicative of a seizure. *Golden*, 248 A.3d at 935-36.

Nevertheless, an officer may "stop an individual for investigatory purposes so long as the officer possesses a reasonable suspicion supported by 'specific and articulable facts' that the individual is involved in criminal activity." *Milline v. United States*, 856 A.2d 616, 619 (D.C. 2004) (quoting *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 21 (1968)). "Various factors are considered in determining whether a . . . stop is justified, including the time of day, flight, the high crime nature of the location, furtive hand movements, an informant's tip, a person's reaction to questioning, a report of criminal activity or gunshots, and viewing of an object or bulge indicating a weapon." *Singleton v. United States*, 998 A.2d 295, 300 (D.C.

2010) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). If, during the stop, an officer has reasonable articulable suspicion that the person detained is armed and dangerous, the officer may also conduct a protective frisk for weapons. *Pridgen v. United States*, 134 A.3d 297, 301 (D.C. 2016)

B. Discussion

The trial court correctly found that Greer was lawfully seized when Officers Ishakwue and Green grabbed him. At that point (and likely even beforehand), officers had reasonable articulable suspicion that Greer was both involved in criminal activity and armed based on several factors. Singleton, 998 A.2d at 300. First, as the trial court found based on Officer Green's testimony, the 3700 block of Georgia Avenue was a high crime area known for shootings and drug activity; indeed, the police responded to the area to investigate a drive-by shooting that just occurred. Second, Officer Green began to approach Greer after Officer Ishakwue unambiguously signaled that Greer was potentially armed, by adjusting and shaking his waistband and pointing toward Greer. That signal indicated that Officer Ishakwue had observed an apparent weapon in

Greer's waistband. 10 Third, when Officer Green initially approached Greer, Greer responded with furtive movements. Specifically, when Officer Green first attempted to get Greer's attention, Greer "bladed" his body, first to his left and then to his right. Officer Green testified that, based on his experience and training, armed individuals typically blade their bodies to hide objects in their waistbands. Further, Greer used his left hand to cover the front area of his pants, the area where Officer Green believed the gun to be. Fifth, and most importantly, when Officer Green moved to face Greer, he saw an L-shaped bulge in the front of Greer's waistband, which the officer recognized as the outline of a firearm. Finally, during the interaction, Greer took a step to his left, which led Officer Green to believe that Greer was going to flee. Based on the circumstances, Officer Green, viewing the situation in light of his professional experience, reasonably suspected that Greer illegally possessed a firearm. See, e.g., Brown v. United States, 97 A.3d 92, 96

_

¹⁰ During cross-examination, Officer Green confirmed that – as he had explained in his *Gerstein* affidavit submitted in this case – Officer Ishakwue also saw the large L-shaped bulge in the front of Greer's waistband (although the precise moment that Officer Ishakwue saw the L-shaped, as opposed to a large bulge, was not specified in Officer Green's testimony) (2/6/23 Tr. 56, 58).

(D.C. 2014) ("Various factors are considered in determining whether a *Terry* stop is justified, including the time of day, flight, the high crime nature of the location, furtive hand movements, an informant's tip, a person's reaction to questioning, a report of criminal activity or gunshots, and viewing of an object or bulge indicating a weapon.") (quoting *Jackson v. United States*, 805 A.2d 979, 985 (D.C. 2002)) (cleaned up). For these reasons, the trial court did not err in concluding that Greer's seizure was lawful.

Greer asserts on appeal that he was seized when Officer Green "called out to him to stop and asked if he had a gun on him" (Br. 9). Greer's assertion is meritless. As a factual matter, Officer Green did not tell Greer to "stop" or even ask him if he had a "gun" – Officer Green first interacted with Greer by stating in a conversational tone, "Sir. One second." Officer Green's words were simply an invitation to talk and not an order to stop. Even if they could be interpreted as an order, Greer did not submit and continued to walk down the sidewalk. Officer Green then greeted Greer by asking, "How are you doing, man?" Greer responded, "Alright," and took it upon himself to slow his pace. Officer Green continued the conversation, and stated something to the effect of, "Would

you." Although vague, these words clearly were not a command. Afterwards, Officer Green walked to Greer's right side and asked, "Sir. You have anything in front of you? You have anything on you?" Greer willingly responded, "Nah. I'm good." (2/6/23 Tr. 64; Gov. Exh. 2 at 17:08:53-55). At this point, Officers Green and Ishakwue's encounter with Greer was consensual, and Greer was not seized. No physical force was used to restrain Greer, *Kelly*, 580 A.2d at 1285, Officer Green issued no commands to stop, and Greer did not submit to any show of police authority – he continued to keep walking. *Golden*, 248 A.3d at 935. Ultimately, this interaction was a consensual encounter that the "Supreme Court has repeatedly held... [did] not manifest [to] a show of authority." *Id*.

Greer further suggests that he was seized when "Officer Green [stood] in front of him blocking his path down the street" (Br. 10). Greer's position is unavailing. Indeed, although Officer Green walked so as to face Greer, neither Officer Green nor Officer Ishakwue blocked Greer's movements. Further, other than the officers being dressed in uniform, the circumstances were not sufficiently intimidating or coercive to indicate to Greer that he was not free to leave. *T.W.*, 292 A.3d at 795. The

interaction occurred in broad daylight on a busy public street. The officers approached Greer calmly, did not draw firearms, and acted casually. In fact, Officer Green held a roll of crime scene tape in his right hand (clearly connecting him to the nearby drive-by shooting investigation) the entire time. Moreover, Greer was not surrounded. Only Officers Green and Ishakwue were present, and they did not approach Greer in a pincer formation. Both officers walked to Greer's right and stopped in front of him at an intersection. Thus, Greer's egress was not blocked - he could have turned left on the sidewalk or crossed the street on the right. See Kelly, 580 A.2d at 1284-85 (holding that two law enforcement officers, who positioned themselves directly in front of and behind a defendant at Union Station did not block or obstruct the defendant's egress because the defendant could have exited through a door located to his left). Most importantly, at no point during the encounter did Greer submit to the officers.¹¹

_

¹¹ The officers' continued interactions with Greer did not amount to a seizure until they grabbed him. Officer Green's next question to Greer was a request for Greer to lift his shift. Greer explicitly responded, "No," and did not comply. Even when Officer Green followed up by asking, "You sure[?]", the officer's tone was calm and polite. During this interaction, none of the pedestrians in the area seemed alarmed. Greer also did not (continued . . .)

Greer also argues that Officer Green did not "make any [suspicious] observations" prior to "unlawfully seizing" him (Br. 10). As explained supra, because Officer Green saw the L-shaped bulge before grabbing Greer, Greer is incorrect. But his argument would fare no better even assuming arguendo that Officer Green "seized" Greer when he faced him and Greer stopped walking; Officer Green was positioned in front of Greer and thus would have observed the L-shaped bulge that was "clearly of the firearm" (2/6/23 Tr. 27, 70). Here, even without the factor of potential flight, Officer Green gained the requisite reasonable suspicion to seize Greer based upon the totality of the circumstances – i.e., the L-shaped bulge and the other factors discussed above.

Greer also contests the trial court's factual findings and specifically asserts that:

The trial court heavily relied on Officer Green's conclusory observations rather than independently analyzing the totality of the circumstances . . . However, it is clear the bodyworn camera evidence contradicts the officer's conclusory opinions and the trial court's reasoning. (Br. 10-11).

seem particularly alarmed and was comfortable enough to continue using his cellular phone. Moreover, the entire encounter – from Officer Green saying, "One second," to the officers grabbing Greer – was brief and lasted approximately 15 seconds.

Greer, however, provides little, if any, explanation with regards to how the trial court's factual findings are "clearly erroneous." Sharp, 132 A.3d at 166. The trial court was within its right to credit Officer Green's testimony, which was not contradicted by the responding officer's BWC footage, or the photographs taken by Officer Green. In fact, most of the incident was captured on the responding officers' BWC footage, which, contrary to Greer's assertion, corroborates Officer Green's testimony. Thus, there is no basis for this Court to reverse the trial court's factual findings. See Bean v. United States, 17 A.3d 635, 638-39 (D.C. 2011) ("We have declared on many occasions that any factual findings anchored in credibility assessments derived from personal observations of the witnesses is beyond appellate reversal unless those factual findings are clearly erroneous.").

Finally, Greer claims that, by handcuffing him, officers "effectively arrested him" for "no justifiable reason" prior to frisking him and discovering the firearm (Br. 11-13). As an initial matter, Greer raises this claim for the first time on appeal. Greer only focused on two issues in his pre-trial filings and at the suppression hearing: (1) the moment Greer was seized, and (2) whether the seizure was supported by reasonable

articulable suspicion (R. 9 at 7-10; R. 11 at 1-3; 2/6/23 Tr. 89). Therefore, at this juncture, Greer would be entitled to plain error review for this claim at best. 12

Even if he had properly preserved it, Greer's argument would fail on its merits. "[T]he right to make an . . . investigatory stop necessarily

¹² Arguments not raised in the trial court are reviewable only for plain error. Walker v. United States, 201 A.3d 586, 593-94 (D.C. 2019). Error is not plain absent binding authority from this Court or the Supreme Court. Id. at 594. "Under the test for plain error, appellant first must show (1) error, (2) that is plain, and (3) that affected appellant's substantial rights." Id. (internal citation and quotation omitted). "Even if all three of these conditions are met, this Court will not reverse unless (4) the error seriously affects the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of judicial proceedings." Id. The appellant bears the burden on each of the four prongs. Id. Here, Greer can neither establish plain error, nor can he establish that his substantial rights have been affected. As explained in text infra, Officer Green handcuffed Greer for safety purposes because, after officers tackled Greer, Greer grabbed at the front of his waistband. where Officer Green believed Greer was concealing a firearm. Further, nothing in the record indicates (and Greer never actually argued) that there was any causal link between Officer's Green decision to frisk Greer and Greer being handcuffed. To the contrary, Officer Green explained at the hearing that he "normally" would have frisked Greer before handcuffing him, but that this situation was different because Greer appeared to be trying to run away (2/6/23 Tr. 27-28). Thus, it was clear, from the moment the officer saw the L-shaped bulge in Greer's front waistband, that the officer intended to frisk Greer. Greer thus cannot establish that the firearm was a "fruit" of what he alleges to be an "unlawful handcuffing" - and cannot show substantial prejudice or a miscarriage of justice so as to be entitled to reversal.

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